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Danish Baptists 

As stated in the introduction the only other denomination to 
establish a conference in America specifically for Danish congregations 
other than the Church of Denmark, which is Lutheran, was the Baptist 
Church. Loosely-knit organizations formed as early as the late 1850's 
but the Danish Baptist General Conference was not formed until 
September 1910 in Harlan, Iowa. 

The first Danish Baptist church was established by Julius 
Kohner in Copenhagen, Denmark in 1839. Kohner, born to Jewish 
parents in Odense in 1806 came under the influence of Gerhard 
Onchen during his journeys to Hamburg, Germany where he was 
baptized in 1836. Within a few years Kohner was able to find like­
minded people on the island of Langeland and in Copenhagen and 
established congregations there. Even though the Grundlov of 1849 
brought religious freedom and tolerance there was still persecution 
and in 1856 a group of Danish Baptists came to the United States and 
established a congregation near Germania, Pennsylvania, which had 
been established a year earlier by German immigrants. This, however, 
did not result in a permanent settlement and two years later most of 
this group moved further west and settled in southeastern Wisconsin 
where the first permanent Danish Baptist church in the United States 
was founded near Raymond. The congregation still exists today and 
was a part of the Danish Baptist General Conference when it was 
formed in 1910 but left the conference shortly thereafter (1914) and 
became Americanized. There were also early churches in Chicago 
and other places but the "mother" church of Danish Baptists would 
have to be considered the congregation at Clarks Grove, Minnesota. 
In time there would be 84 Danish Baptist churches established in the 
US and the Baptist Church was one of the truly "Danish" churches on 
American soil, besides the Lutheran Church. 

This church near Raymond west of Racine was organized on 
November 10, 1856 and the first pastor was Soren Larsen, who left in 
1858 to pastor the church in Waushara, Wisconsin (the second Danish 
Baptist congregation established) when the Raymond congregation 
became divided over the role of women in the church and Pastor 
Larsen chose to remain neutral on the issue. Lars Jorgensen, a gifted 
teacher, then came but was not ordained until February 1859. Over the 
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years at least ten other Danish Baptist churches owed their beginning 
to this congregation, including the one in Clarks Grove, Minnesota. 

By the time the Danish Baptist General Conference was formed in 
1910, seventy-six Danish Baptist congregations had been established. 
Within the next twenty years eight more congregations were born 
( one in Canada). However, by the time the conference disbanded on 
August 29, 1958 at the 30th and last session of the Conference held 
at First Baptist Church in Clarks Grove there were only fourteen 
member churches remaining. Approximately 31 of the congregations 
had disbanded with another 39 either merged or consolidated with 
American Baptist churches, which the remaining 14 did when the 
conference closed. The need for seminary training, periodicals, 
hymnals, and preaching in the Danish language continued to decline 
over the years particularly as the young people were born and raised 
as English-speaking Americans. While many remained proud of their 
Danish heritage the use of the mother tongue no longer existed and 
thus a separate conference was no longer needed as well. 

Most likely the Methodist and Mormon denominations were 
larger but the Methodists were still primarily Norwegian rather than 
Danish and no records are available to indicate Danish branches of 
the Mormon Church. However, based on the immigration records, 
Danes accounted for the majority of the "Scandinavian" work done 
by the church and the large presence of persons of Danish ancestry in 
Utah (as well as parts of Idaho) today would indicate the likelihood of 
many Danish-speaking services. 

There are congregations that still honor their Danish heritage 
and the Baptist Memorial Home in Harlan, Iowa remains today as a 
testament to these Danish pioneers who took upon the difficult task 
of building this facility, which was first dedicated on August 24, 1950. 

Originally the archives of the Danish Baptist General Conference 
were held at the Home in Harlan, until they were transferred to the 
Clarks Grove, MN church. In time the archives became a part of the 
collection at the American Baptist - Samuel Colgate Historical Library 
in Rochester, New York. In an attempt to unite the American Baptist 
archives across the United States under one roof this collection found 
a new home at the Atlanta (Georgia) campus of Mercer University in 
September 2008. 
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Danish Episcopalians 

While the 1906 Religious Bodies Census of the United States 
reports only one Episcopal church using the Danish language to 
conduct some of their worship services it may be difficult to determine 
which congregation that is. There are however two strong examples of 
the work of the Episcopal church among the Danes in America, one in 
Wisconsin and the other in New Denmark, New Brunswick, Canada. 

According to Rasmus Andersen in his book "Banebrydere for 
Kirken i Amerika" (Pioneers for the Church in America), the oldest Danish 
congregation with a Danish pastor was St. Mark's Episcopal Church 
in Waupaca, Wisconsin. While is it known that at least a portion of this 
congregation was served by Martin F. Sorensen, a son of the emigrant 
agent Rasmus Sorensen, from 1856 until 1870, there is little to support 
the fact that it was a purely Danish congregation. Sorensen was the 
ninth graduate of the Episcopalian Nashotah Seminary, ordained by 
Bishop Kemper on June 25, 1848. He began serving the Scandinavian 
population around Ashippun, Wisconsin. 

Interesting is that in light of the 2000 "Called to Common 
Mission" statement, giving full communion to the Episcopal and 
Evangelical Lutheran Churches in America, a unique and important 
event had also taken place at the 1847 convention of the Episcopal 
Church. Two Lutheran churches from the area near Waukesha, 
Wisconsin were present, having been accepted into full union with 
the Diocese of Wisconsin by Bishop Kemper. St. Olaf's, Ashippun, and 
Scandinavian Parish, Pine Lake (Nashotah Village), fully intended to 
remain Lutheran, while having a full union relationship with their 
Episcopal neighbors. These parishes were served by the Swedish 
Rev. G. Unonius who had been the first graduate of Nashotah House. 
The author Wagner states, "Here we have recorded one of the most 
unusual and singular facts in the history of the American Church. 
If this is not the only incident of its kind in the American Church, 
it is a rare one - two congregations who announce their purpose 
of remaining Lutheran in doctrine and practice, and yet are being 
ministered to by an Episcopalian priest and are in full union with an 
Episcopalian diocese." St. Olaf ultimately remained Lutheran and still 
exists today. The Nashotah Parish split in the 1850's. One group took 
the records and registers of the church and founded St. John's English 
Lutheran Church, Stone Bank. The other retained the log church and 
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cemetery, and became Holy Innocents Episcopal Church, Nashotah. 
More than 100 years later, during the mid 1960's this parish merged 
with Grace Episcopal, Hartland, Wisconsin to form St. Anskar's 
Episcopal Church, the name of the Apostle to Scandinavia reflecting 
the Scandinavian heritage in that area. 

Similarly the small village of New Denmark, New Brunswick 
Canada founded by Danish immigrants in 1872 shares a common 
story. This area also included a Scottish "colony" and was served 
by an Anglican priest from Perth-Andover, New Brunswick named 
Leopold Hoyt. However for several years neither churches nor 
schools were established in the colony. Some of the Danish settlers 
wrote to Pastor Vilhelm Beck in Denmark seeking a minister to come 
to New Denmark. Requesting $800 per year to come to the colony 
Hans Mikkelsen Hansen eventually accepted an offer of only $200, 
even though he had a large family which included eight children to 
support, and came to New Denmark. Unfortunately after they arrived 
there was no support offered. On the verge of returning to Denmark 
Hoyt suggested Hansen contact the Anglican bishop in Fredericton. It 
was arranged for Hansen to be accepted and ordained a catechist and 
within a year a priest in the Anglican Church. He was, however, still 
allowed to use Luther's Catechism and the Danish hymnal. Over time 
the church split into congregations of both denominations which still 
exist today. 

Danish Free Church ( Congregational) 
(Norwegian-Danish Free Church Association) 

The first churches in what became the Norwegian-Danish Free 
Church Association began on both the East and West Coast about the 
same time in 1884. The first was the Norwegian-Danish Evangelical 
Free Church Association organized in Tacoma, Washington. The 
second was the Scandinavian Congregational Church of Boston, 
Massachusetts, which began in 1884 but was not formally organized 
until a year later. This church, however, has long been considered 
the "mother church" of the denomination. The third congregation 
began in 1886 in Wesley, Iowa and was also called the Scandinavian 
Congregational Church and was comprised of Norwegians, Danes, 
and Swedes from its early days. The Congregational church had 
seen the need to minister to these immigrants when Superintendant 
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